# RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-19-2018

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2017AP002006-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

JOHN PATRICK WRIGHT,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED ON SEPTEMBER 1, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE HANNAH DUGAN, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Randy P. Sitzberger Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1074004 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STANDARD OF REVIEW6
ARGUMENT
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT OFFICER SARDINA'S QUESTIONS EXTENDED THE TRAFFIC STOP INTO A CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION6
CONCLUSION
INDEX TO APPENDIX AND CERTIFICATION App. 100

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### **CASES CITED**

Page

<i>Florida v. Bostick,</i> 501 U.S. 429 (1991)8
<i>Rodriguez v. United States,</i> 135 S. Ct. 1609 (2015)6, 7, 8, 9
<i>State v. Floyd</i> , 2017 WI 78, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 5607, 8, 9
<i>State v. Gaulrapp</i> , 207 Wis. 2d 600, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct. App. 1996)8, 9
<i>State v. Knapp</i> , 2005 WI 127, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 8996
<i>State v. Mohr</i> , 2000 WI App 111, 235 Wis. 2d 220, 613 N.W.2d 1864
State v. Turner, 136 Wis. 2d 333, 401 N.W. 2d 827 (1987)6

# **OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED**

Fourth Amendment4,	5
--------------------	---

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP002006-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Appellant,

vs.

JOHN PATRICK WRIGHT,

Defendant- Respondent.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED ON SEPTEMBER 1, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE HANNAH DUGAN, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Did an officer's questions regarding the presence of a weapon during the normal course of a traffic stop improperly extend the scope of that traffic stop?

Trial court answered: Yes

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on those issues. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not meet the criteria for publication. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 29, 2016, the State of Wisconsin charged John Wright with one count of Carrying a Concealed Weapon. (R1:2; App. 102) The charge stemmed from events that occurred on June 15, 2016, at 2350 North 23<sup>rd</sup> Street after Milwaukee Police stopped Wright for having a defective headlight. (R1:2; App. 102) Subsequent to stopping Wright, officers asked Wright if he had a permit to carry a concealed weapon and if he had any weapons in the vehicle. (R1:2; App. 102) Wright answered that he did not have a permit and additionally answered that he had a gun locked in his glovebox. (R1:2; App. 102)

On February 1, 2017, Wright filed a motion to suppress evidence in the trial court arguing that officers' questioning as to whether he was a permit holder and whether he had any weapons was outside the scope of the initial stop. (R5:5; App. 107)<sup>1</sup> Wright argued that the officers transformed the legitimate seizure into a constitutionally improper one when they asked these questions of Wright without any reasonable suspicion to believe he had a weapon. (R5:5-6; App. 107-108)

An evidentiary hearing regarding Wright's motion was held on May 11, 2017. (R27; App. 116-65) At that hearing, Milwaukee Police Officer Kristopher Sardina testified to the following facts: On June 15, 2016, he and his partner stopped a vehicle that had only one headlight working. (R27:6; App. 121) Upon stopping the vehicle, Officer Sardina learned that John Wright was the driver and lone occupant. (R27:8; App. App.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wright acknowledged in his brief that the initial stop for a defective headlight was a lawful stop. (R5:5; App. 107)

123) Officer Sardina stopped the vehicle only for the headlight and had no other basis for which to stop Wright's vehicle when he did so at approximately 11:00 p.m. (R27:7; App. App. 122)

Officer Sardina then approached Wright and asked him questions. (R27:9; App. 124). Two of those questions were whether Wright was a Carrying Concealed Weapon (CCW) permit holder and if he had any weapons in his vehicle. Officer Sardina asked these questions in conjunction with asking for Wright's driver's license. (R27:9; App. 124) In response, Wright stated that he had just completed taking a CCW permit course but had not yet obtained his permit. (R27:10; App. 125) Wright also told Officer Sardina that he did have a firearm in his vehicle. (R27:10; App. 125) Wright then told Officer Sardina and his partner that they could take possession of his firearm during the traffic stop. (R27:10; App. 125) Officer Sardina's partner then retrieved the firearm from Wright's closed glovebox. (R27:11; App. 126) It was only after recovering the firearm from Wright's glovebox that Officer Sardina took Wright's driver's license back to his car with him to run a check on it. (R27:11; App.126)

Officer Sardina explained that he and fellow Milwaukee police officers are trained to ask these questions during traffic stops for officer safety and that the questions are even printed on a card given to officers regarding questions to ask during traffic stops. (R27:9, 17; App. 124, 132) Officer Sardina testified that, at the time he asked Wright those questions, Wright was still seated inside his vehicle and was not asked to exit his vehicle at that point. (R27:12; App. 127) Officer Sardina added that he had not seen a firearm, a holster, bullets, or other evidence that Wright may have a firearm when he asked Wright those questions regarding a CCW permit and the presence of a firearm. (R27:17; App. 132)

At the conclusion of the testimony,<sup>2</sup> the State argued

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Wright did testify at the motion hearing. However, he agreed with a substantial portion of Officer Sardina's testimony. Wright only disagreed that officers never told him the reason for which he was initially detained prior to him being taken to the station. The remainder of Wright's brief testimony established that the gun recovered from the glove box was his and that he had completed a course as a prerequisite to applying for a CCW permit. (R27:22-28; App. 137-143)

that officers did not extend the traffic stop by asking Wright whether he was a CCW permit holder and whether he possessed a gun because these questions were concerned with officer safety. (R27:32; App. 147) The State highlighted the dangerous nature traffic stops pose to officers. (R27:32; App. 147) This argument was identical to one the State made in a response brief citing *State v. Mohr*, 2000 WI App 111, ¶ 14, 235 Wis. 2d 220, 613 N.W.2d 186. (R6:3; App. 112) The State further argued these questions were related to the officer safety component of the traffic stop, which is part of the traffic stop, not an extension of the same. (R27:32; App. 147)

Wright argued, however, that when Officer Sardina asked these questions related to a firearm, he extended the traffic stop into a criminal investigation with no reasonable suspicion to do so. (R27:35; App. 150) Wright compared this to a "fishing expedition" for weapons in cars. (R27:34; App. 149) Wright then argued that, because officers were changing the nature of the seizure, the Fourth Amendment would require them to have independent reasonable suspicion when the officers asked these questions related to a firearm, and thus they improperly extended the traffic stop. (R27:35; App. 150)

The State then reiterated its argument that these two questions did not amount to a criminal investigation but were wholly concerned with the officers' safety during the traffic stop that they were legitimately investigating. (R27:40; App. 155) The trial court then adjourned the case for a decision to be given regarding the motion. (R27:48; App. 163)

On June 21, 2017 the trial court found that the officers' initial stop of Wright was "fine" based on the testimony that Officer Sardina observed Wright to have only one operational headlight. (R29:5) The trial court then found that Officer Sardina could not recall the exact order of questions he asked of Wright regarding Wright's driver's license, the CCW permit, and the presence of a firearm. (R29:5-6) The trial court placed great weight on the order in which Officer Sardina asked these questions citing the "constitutional principles . . . of asking questions in a correct order in terms of seizing<sup>3</sup>." (R29:6). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial court never elaborated to what constitutional principles it was referring.

court later found that Officer Sardina did not ask the questions in a sequential order "in terms of establishing the correct way to stop and search." (R29:6) The trial court also found neither Officer Sardina nor his partner observed Wright make any furtive movements. (R29:6) The court then found that, though the initial traffic stop was justified under the Fourth Amendment, Officer Sardina's questions regarding a firearm extended the traffic stop into a different kind of investigation, which "was against the standard of reasonableness" in terms of whether the officers could have believed that Wright was committing or was about to commit a crime. (R29:7) In response to a question by the State, the trial court clarified its ruling stating that officers lacked reasonable suspicion to ask Wright whether he was a CCW permit holder and whether he possessed a firearm during the traffic stop. (R29:8) On those findings, the trial court then granted Wright's motion to suppress the firearm as evidence. (R29:7-8) The State then requested a status date to consider an appeal of that decision<sup>4</sup> and the case was set for August 18, 2017. (R29:9)

On July 11, 2017, the State filed a motion to reconsider the decision on Wright's motion. (R13; App. 113-114) The crux of the State's argument in its motion to reconsider revolved around a Wisconsin Supreme Court case that had been published very shortly after the trial court's decision in this case. (R13:2; App. 114) The State filed that motion five weeks in advance of the status date with both the trial court and Wright's attorney. (R13; App. 113-114) The State did not request any date preceding the upcoming August 18, 2017, status date. (R13; App. 113-114) On August 18, 2017, the trial court refused to consider the State's motion to reconsider stating that it was the first the court had seen of the State's motion. (R30:6; App. 171) The trial court further based its decision to not consider the State's motion on the facts that the State did not file a notice of motion along with its actual motion on July 11, 2017, and the State did not include the standard of review for a motion to reconsider, and thus, the trial court refused to consider the State's motion to reconsider. (R30:6; App. 171) The State now brings this appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Though the court made its decision on June 21, 2017, it did not issue a formal written decision from which to appeal until September 1, 2017. (R15; App. 115)

The State argues that Judge Dugan erred when she ruled Officer Sardina's questions improperly extended the traffic stop. Wisconsin and federal law allow an officer to ask questions related to officer safety as part of the mission of a traffic stop. Officer Sardina was lawfully allowed to ask Wright questions related to the presence of weapons without improperly extending the traffic stop. The State respectfully requests this court reverse Judge Dugan's decision and remand the case to the trial court.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 19, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899. A reviewing court will uphold the trial court's finding of facts unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Turner*, 136 Wis. 2d 333, 343-44, 401 N.W. 2d 827 (1987). However, the trial court's application of those findings of fact to constitutional principles is a question of law for a reviewing court to review independently. *Id.* 

#### ARGUMENT

#### THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT OFFICER SARDINA'S QUESTIONS EXTENDED THE TRAFFIC STOP INTO A CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION

In his argument to the trial court following the motion hearing on May 11, 2017, Wright analogized his facts to those in *Rodriguez v. United States*, 135 S. Ct. 1609 (2015). (R27:35; App. 150) In *Rodriguez*, officers had concluded their mission of a traffic stop but caused Rodriguez to wait on scene for approximately five additional minutes for officers to procure a drug sniffing canine to search for the odor of drugs around Rodriguez's car. *Rodriguez*, 135 S. Ct. at 1613. The Court in *Rodriguez* held that the tolerable length of a traffic stop is determined by the nature of the seizure's mission, which is to address the traffic violation that warranted the stop, *and to attend to related safety concerns. Id.* at 1614 (emphasis added). Authority for the seizure ends when the tasks tied to the original mission are, or should have been, concluded. *Id.* 

Contrary to Wright's argument, the facts of *Rodriguez*. are not analogous to the facts in the present case. Here, the officers had not concluded their original mission of handling the traffic violation or the related safety concerns related to that mission. Unlike the officer in Rodriguez, who approached Rodriguez's vehicle three times, issued a formal written warning to Rodriguez and handed back Rodriguez's license and paperwork prior to ordering him to remain on scene for a drug sniffing dog, Officer Sardina, when asking about the presence of any weapons, had just begun speaking with Wright and had not yet returned to his squad car even once with Wright's license to run a check or to conclude his mission surrounding the faulty headlight. (R27:11; App. 126) The State argues that Judge Dugan erred in finding that Officer Sardina's actions were comparable to those of the officer in *Rodriguez*. (R29:7-8) Officer Sardina asked about the presence of weapons; he did not ask to search for drugs or delay the traffic stop for any other law enforcement to arrive. He asked Wright almost immediately whether he was in possession of any weapons and Officer Sardina did not extend this traffic stop. The trial court's comparison of these facts to *Rodriguez* was in error.

Wisconsin case law has consistently held that officer's questioning regarding the presence of weapons at a traffic stop are related to the legitimate interest of officer safety related to that traffic stop and do not extend traffic stops. The State will discuss two of these cases in the following paragraphs.

Wright's case is more analogous to *State v. Floyd*, 2017 WI 78, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560. In *Floyd*, officers stopped Floyd for suspended registration. *Floyd*, 2017 WI 78, ¶ 2. The officer approached Floyd and spoke with him for approximately two to three minutes before obtaining Floyd's state identification card. *Id.*, ¶ 4. The officer then returned to his squad car and asked for canine officers to report to the scene but none were in the immediate area. *Id.* The officer then completed writing Floyd citations and re-approached Floyd's vehicle approximately five minutes later. *Id.*, ¶ 5. Prior to handing Floyd his identification card or citations, the officer asked Floyd to step out of the vehicle at which time the officer asked Floyd if he had any weapons on his person that could harm the officer. *Id.* The officer then asked Floyd if he would consent to a search of his person. *Id.* Floyd then appealed on the grounds that the officer's questioning of him when he reapproached Floyd's vehicle improperly extended the traffic stop. *Id.*,  $\P$  1.

In its decision, the *Floyd* Court cited the same language *Rodriguez* mentioned above in describing from the constitutional limitations on the tolerable time of a traffic stop. Floyd, 2017 WI 78, ¶ 21. In discussing what tasks are included in the mission of a traffic stop, the Floyd Court noted that officer safety is "... an integral part of every traffic stop's mission." Id., ¶ 26 (citing Rodriguez v. United States, 135 S. Ct. at 1616). The *Floyd* Court stated that the danger inherent to an officer during the course of a traffic stop authorizes an officer to take certain negligibly burdensome precautions in order to complete the officer's mission safely. Floyd, 2017 WI 78, ¶ 27. The Court then specifically stated that the officer's question regarding whether Floyd had any weapons on his person that could harm the officer was related to officer safety and was negligibly burdensome to ensure the officer could fulfill his duties safely. Id., ¶ 28. The Court further ruled that, because the questions were related to officer safety and were negligibly burdensome, they were related to the original traffic mission and did not extend the original seizure. Id.

In another similar case, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals also held that an officer asking a motorist stopped for an equipment violation about the presence of weapons did not improperly extend the scope of the traffic stop. State v. Gaulrapp, 207 Wis. 2d 600, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct. App. 1996). In Gaulrapp, officers stopped Gaulrapp for having an excessively loud muffler. Gaulrapp, 207 Wis. 2d 600 at 603. Upon approaching Gaulrapp's vehicle and making contact with him, officers asked Gaulrapp if he had any weapons or drugs in his vehicle. Id. Gaulrapp moved to suppress drugs that officers found on his person arguing that the officers had improperly extended the traffic stop when they asked about the presence of weapons and drugs. Id. at 604. The Gaulrapp Court held, however, that mere questioning by officers does not constitute a seizure. Gaulrapp, 207 Wis. 2d 600 at 609 (citing Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429 (1991)). It is, therefore, not the nature of any questions being asked of a motorist that extends a traffic stop, but an officer's actions if he or she unreasonably delays or makes the motorist remain after the purpose of the traffic stop

has concluded. *Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis. 2d 600 at 609. In the present case, Officer Sardina did nothing to delay the traffic stop, nor did he cause Wright to remain on scene longer than necessary. Officer Sardina merely asked questions of Wright in the normal course of investigating the traffic stop – behavior permitted under *Gaulrapp*.

In this case, as in *Gaulrapp* and *Floyd*, Officer Sardina asked negligibly burdensome questions related to his safety while completing the mission of his traffic stop. Remarkably, Officer Sardina's actions towards Wright were less intrusive than the officer's actions in *Floyd*, who asked Floyd to step out of the vehicle and ultimately asked for permission to search Floyd's person after writing citations in his squad car and then re-approaching Floyd's vehicle. Here, Officer Sardina had just begun his mission of this particular traffic stop. He had just obtained Wright's driver's license and had not yet gone back to his squad car. In order to ensure his safety during the course of this traffic stop, Officer Sardina asked negligibly burdensome questions as to whether Wright had any weapons in the vehicle. Wright stated he did and gave Officer Sardina consent to take possession of it during the course of the traffic stop. Only then did Officer Sardina return to his squad car to fulfill his duties during the traffic stop. Officer Sardina's questions were related to his safety, which even the *Rodriguez* Court, to which Wright attempted to compare his case, stated is an integral part of every traffic stop. Judge Dugan erred in finding that such questions were an improper extension of the scope of the traffic stop.

#### CONCLUSION

Wisconsin and federal law have consistently held that officer safety is an integral part of every traffic stop due to the inherent risk of danger that traffic stops present. Officers are therefore authorized to ask negligibly burdensome questions to ensure their safety during traffic stops. The trial court erred in ruling that Officer Sardina was required to ask questions in a particular order. There is no such test that requires officers to ask questions in a particular order; rather, the test is only that officers' questions be negligibly burdensome and related to officer safety and asked in the normal course of completing the mission of the traffic stop. That mission includes ensuring the officer's safety.

Wisconsin cases have consistently held that an officer's questions regarding the presence of a weapon at a traffic stop are related to the legitimate purpose of officer safety and are negligibly burdensome and do not extend the stop. Judge Dugan erred in deciding otherwise. The State respectfully requests this court reverse Judge Dugan's decision.