STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2017AP2006-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

JOHN PATRICK WRIGHT,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District I, Affirming the Order Suppressing Evidence Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Hannah C. Dugan, Presiding

> RESPONSE BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

> > CARLY M. CUSACK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1096479

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 cusackc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

# RECEIVED

11-29-2018

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Asking Mr. Wright if he was a CCW permit holder was a detour aimed at detecting evidence of criminal wrongdoing and ordinary unlawfully prolonged his traffic stop. Officer Sardina testified that the sole basis for Mr. Wright's traffic stop was his observation of a defective headlight. He also testified that he would have given Mr. Wright a warning as he had never given a citation for just a headlight violation. Instead, even though Officer Sardina had no reasonable suspicion of any illegal activity, he unnecessarily delayed carrying out the purpose of the traffic stop—delivering the warning about the defective headlight—by detouring into an admittedly unrelated topic: whether Mr. Wright had

a CCW permit. This detour into unrelated and undiscovered criminal wrongdoing violated the Fourth Amendment, because this questioning and the subsequent permit check, in the absence of reasonable suspicion, went beyond the scope of the original traffic stop mission. Measures outside an officer's traffic stop mission, aimed at detecting evidence of ordinary criminal wrongdoing are unlawful if the tasks tied to the traffic stop reasonably should have been completed.

Here, Mr. Wright was detained for more time than necessary for the officer to deliver his warning about the defective headlight. Officer Sardina's CCW questions impermissibly extended the traffic stop because they were asked in the absence of reasonable suspicion, and because those questions were not a part of the mission of the traffic stop. Rather, Officer Sardina's CCW questions were asked in the hopes of discovering undetected criminal wrongdoing, based on less than a hunch. The Fourth Amendment does not permit this.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Officer Sardina impermissibly extended Mr. Wright's traffic stop because the CCW inquiry was a detour aimed at detecting evidence of unlawful gun possession, and was not reasonably related in scope to the circumstances justifying the traffic stop.

A. Standard of review and relevant law.

Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact: this Court upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous, but independently determines whether those facts meet the constitutional standard. *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶19, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899. While this Court is not bound by the circuit court's decision on questions of law, it benefits from the lower court's analysis. *State v. Kyles*, 2004 WI 15, ¶7, 269 Wis. 2d 1, 675 N.W.2d 449.

A traffic stop is a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569; U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV; WIS. CONST. ART. I, §11. Wisconsin courts generally follow the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth Amendment in construing Article I, §11. *State v. Betterley*, 191 Wis. 2d 406, 416, 529 N.W.2d 216 (1995).

This Court recently explained that "[t]raffic stops are meant to be brief interactions with law enforcement officers, and they may last no longer than required to address the circumstances that make them necessary." *State v. Floyd*, 2017 WI 78, ¶21, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560. Traffic stops that exceed the amount of time required to "handle the matter for which the stop was made" violate the Fourth Amendment. *Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1612. "Authority for the seizure thus ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are—or reasonably should have been—completed." *Id.* at 1614.

The United States Supreme Court has explained that a traffic stop involves determining whether to issue a traffic ticket, as well as the "ordinary inquiries incident to" the stop, including related safety concerns. *Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1614-15. However, both "on-scene investigation into other crimes" and "safety precautions taken in order to facilitate" such investigations impermissibly detour from the traffic-control mission. *Id.* at 1615-16.

> B. Absent reasonable suspicion, police inquiry into whether the subject of a traffic stop is a CCW permit holder is an on-scene impermissible investigation aimed at detecting unlawful gun possession.

"The essential purpose of the proscriptions in the Fourth Amendment is to impose a standard of 'reasonableness' upon the exercise of discretion by government officials, including law enforcement agents, in order 'to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary

invasions...." Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 653-54 (1979) (quoted sources omitted). Yet, what the state seeks in this case is a bright line rule permitting arbitrary invasions by allowing police officers to ask every driver, stopped in any traffic stop scenario, whether they have a CCW permit and any weapons, and to run a CCW permit check, without reasonable suspicion. But the Fourth any fundamentally Amendment, rooted in reasonableness, is not suited to per se rules—look no further than to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), the unguestionable cornerstone of Fourth Amendment case law.

In *Terry*, the United States Supreme Court approved of "legitimate and restrained investigative conduct undertaken on the basis of ample factual justification." 392 U.S. at 15. The Court set forth its much-repeated test: "[I]n determining whether the seizure and search were unreasonable, our inquiry is a dual one—whether the officer's action was justified at its inception, and whether it was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place." *Id.*, 19-20; *see State v. Smith*, 2018 WI 2, ¶10, 379 Wis. 2d 86, 905 N.W.2d 353.

In fact, the question presented in this case can be answered simply by applying the facts of Mr.

Wright's case to the second prong<sup>1</sup> of *Terry's* test: was the police conduct "reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place?" 392 U.S. at 19-20. The answer, according to the officer's own testimony, is no. (27:9). This Court should therefore affirm the lower courts' decisions and conclude that while the traffic stop in this case began with a constitutional basis, it became unconstitutional when the officer asked questions and conducted a gun permit check unrelated to the defective headlight that had justified the stop, and that instead sought to detect unlawful gun possession, albeit, without reasonable suspicion.

In the half-century that has passed since *Terry* was decided, the United States Supreme Court has had the opportunity to consider a number of variations on the scenario presented in *Terry*. The foundation established first in *Terry*, and developed in case after case over the following decades, played an important role in *Rodriguez*, the case on which the circuit court and court of appeals properly relied in deciding Mr. Wright's case.<sup>2</sup> These and other cases

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  The first prong, whether the officer's action was justified at its inception, is not contested in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Rodriguez hearkened back to Terry, Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106 (1977)(officers may order drivers to exit their vehicles for officer safety), Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648 (1979) (privacy interests of travelers outweighs the state's interest in discretionary spot checks of vehicles), Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500 (1983) (the scope of a detention must be carefully tailored to its underlying justification), and United (continued)

make clear that *Terry*'s two-prong test for assessing the constitutionality of investigative detentions is alive and well.<sup>3</sup>

The state tries several tacks to support its request for the bright line rule that every traffic stop may include the CCW inquiry that was conducted in this case, regardless of reasonable suspicion. It asserts that the officer's questions in this case were permissible because, based on this Court's decision in *Floyd*, they were a part of the traffic stop mission. Specifically, the state believes the questions were

States v. Sharpe, 470 U.S. 675 (1985) ("in determining the reasonable duration of a stop, it is appropriate to examine whether the police diligently pursued the investigation"), in addition to more recent cases—*Illinois v. Caballes*, 543 U.S. 405 (2005) (a traffic stop can become unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete the mission of issuing a warning ticket), and *Arizona v. Johnson*, 555 U.S. 323 (2009) (pat down of passengers permitted with reasonable suspicion that the person is armed and dangerous).

<sup>3</sup> See United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 881 (1975) ("the stop and inquiry must be 'reasonably related in scope to the justification for their initiation.""); Royer, 460 U.S. at 500 ("an investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop"); United States v. Hensley, 469 U.S. 221, 235 (1985) (To assess the constitutionality of an investigative detention, the court must determine whether the facts "justified the length and intrusiveness of the stop and detention that actually occurred"); Hiibel v. Sixth Judicial District Court, 542 U.S. 177, 188 (2004) (an officer may not arrest a suspect for failure to identify himself if the identification request is not reasonably related to the circumstances justifying the stop). permissible because they were connected to officer safety and were negligibly burdensome. Then, relying on dictum from *Arizona v. Johnson*, the state argues that questions unrelated to the basis for the traffic stop are permissible so long as they do not measurably extend the duration of the stop. For the reasons explained below, these arguments are unpersuasive, and this Court should decline the state's invitation to allow officers to ask every stopped motorist about his or her CCW licensure in every traffic stop.<sup>4</sup>

1. The CCW inquiry was not part of the traffic stop mission.

During Mr. Wright's suppression hearing, the following testimony was elicited:

Prosecutor:	Is the only traffic violation
	that you – that you
	observed was this burnt out
	headlamp?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The state also asserts that the officer was "statutorily entitled to ask Wright about his CCW status, as a matter of course," pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 175.60(2g)(c), because the officer was "acting in his official capacity and with lawful authority when he stopped Wright." (State brief-in-chief p.9). However, if there was no Fourth Amendment basis to extend the traffic stop and to ask questions regarding Mr. Wright's CCW status, then Officer Sardina was not acting with lawful authority, as required by the statute. Moreover, a state statute cannot trump the Fourth Amendment's protections. *See Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. 137 (1803).

Officer Sardina:	Yes.
Prosecutor:	And if nothing else had happened, would you be more likely to write a ticket or just give a warning or one of those equipment violation notice things?
Officer:	I would have given a warning. I've never given a citation for just a headlight.

(27:7-8).

Officer Sardina's CCW questions and subsequent CCW permit check were not a part of the mission of the traffic stop because those questions did not bear on the decision to issue a traffic ticket for the defective headlight, and because they are not ordinary inquiries incident to a traffic stop. See Smith, 379 Wis. 2d 86, ¶19. Instead, the CCW inquiry constituted an impermissible detour into unrelated and unsuspected criminal wrongdoing.

In *Rodriguez*, the United States Supreme Court specifically identified criminal record and outstanding warrant checks as examples of ordinary inquiries incident to the traffic stop: tasks that are connected to the traffic mission and to *related* safety concerns. *Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1614-16. *See also* Wayne R. LaFave, 4 *Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment* § 9.3(f), at 545 (5th ed. 2012) (Discussing *Rodriguez*, and explaining, "[T]he question is not whether any of the drug-seeking tactics are themselves Fourth Amendment searches, for the point is that they taint the stop purportedly made only for a traffic violation because they have absolutely *no* relationship to traffic law enforcement."). Asking about a person's CCW status is not on par with the checks the *Rodriguez* court identified.

To illustrate why, follow the CCW question to its logical conclusion and consider the situation in which a driver is lawfully stopped and subsequently asked by an officer if she is a CCW permit holder. Say the driver tells the officer that she is a CCW permit holder. What does that information do? It does not add to reasonable suspicion that she is armed and dangerous in order to justify a frisk for weapons. See State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶¶21, 33, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182; see also Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 272-73 (2000) ("Our decisions recognize the serious threat that armed criminals pose to public safety; Terry's rule, which permits protective police searches on the basis of reasonable suspicion rather than demanding that officers meet the higher standard of probable cause, responds to this very concern. But an automatic firearm exception to our established reliability analysis would rove too far.").

That the driver is a CCW permit holder also does not amount to the reasonable suspicion that she is otherwise engaged in illegal activity. See Vill. of Somerset v. Hoffman, No.2015AP140, unpublished slip op. at ¶20 n.12 (WI App May 17, 2016) (noting "the mere fact a person is carrying a firearm cannot itself be evidence of criminal or malicious intent.") (Supp.App.206).<sup>5</sup> Nor does the fact that a driver is a CCW permit holder lend itself to reasonable suspicion that this driver even has a gun in the vehicle.

Instead, an officer's questions about guns and having a CCW permit constitute an "[o]n-scene investigation into other crimes" and is a detour from the traffic stop mission. *See Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1616. There can be no automatic presumption of illegality where the possession of a firearm is not automatically illegal, due to concealed carry laws and the Second Amendment.<sup>6</sup>

In so holding, the Indiana Supreme Court noted that in a number of other jurisdictions where possession of a weapon is not per se illegal, legislatures and courts have been "reluctant (continued)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Cited for persuasive value only, in accordance with WIS. STAT. §§ 809.23(3)(b) and (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Last spring, the Indiana Supreme Court held a tip that the defendant was carrying a gun was insufficient to justify an investigatory stop and search of the defendant, and that court concluded police were not permitted under the Fourth Amendment to briefly detain a person to ascertain the legality of a weapon and dispel any suspicion of criminal activity. *Pinner v. State*, 74 N.E.3d 226, 233 (Ind. 2017). The Indiana Supreme Court quoted the United States Supreme Court's observation, "Were the individual subject to unfettered governmental intrusion every time he [exercised his right to bear arms], the security guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment would be seriously circumscribed." 74 N.E.3d at 233 (quoting *Prouse*, 440 U.S. 648, 662-63).

The state argues the CCW inquiry in this case permissible, pointing to *Rodriguez's* was authorization of "negligibly burdensome precautions in order to complete the traffic mission safely." (State's brief-in-chief p.6, 9). But the ordinary inquiries have been justified as incidental to a traffic stop because they, like the traffic code, ensure that vehicles are operated safely and responsibly. 1615 - 16.Officer Sardina's *Rodriguez* at CCW questions do not serve that same purpose such that they could be deemed part of the ordinary inquiries of a traffic stop.

However, even if this Court agrees with the state that Officer Sardina's questions were in fact a "related safety precaution," it should nevertheless conclude those questions were impermissible because they are the very type of safety precaution *Rodriguez* prohibited—those taken in order to facilitate a detour into other crimes, here, illegal gun possession. 135 S.Ct. at 1616. This aspect of the *Rodriguez* decision is what the state fails to take into account in its argument in this case—that even if the CCW inquiry was a safety precaution, if those questions were asked in order to investigate other crimes, they nevertheless impermissibly detoured from the trafficcontrol mission. Mr. Wright's stop notably involved no furtive movements, no weapons paraphernalia, and no prior contact or history with Mr. Wright to

to permit a 'firearm or weapons exception' to the constitutional limitations already imposed by *Terry*." *Id.* (compiling cases).

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